OSHA INDIVIDUAL CRIMINAL LIABILITY MAYBE EXPANDING
By: Philip H. Hilder and Paul L. Creech

Recent workplace deaths at BP Deepwater Horizon, Massey Mine and Imperial Sugar
have revived the late Senator Edward Kennedy’s request for increased criminal penalties of
willful Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) violations.∗

Three years ago Senator

Kennedy, released a report through the U.S. Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor and
Pensions entitled “Discounting Death,” detailing what he believed to be shortcomings of the
criminal OSHA provisions; the failure of OSHA and the Department of Justice (DOJ) to refer
and then seek criminal prosecutions; and proposed changes to create a criminal deterrent to
employers.1 Senator Kennedy highlighted the lack of criminal liability except when death
occurred, with no criminal liability for violations that caused serious injury short of death.2 As it
stands, the maximum sentence for a first willful violation that causes death is a sentence of 6
∗

29 USC § 666 (e) Willful violation causing death to employee. Any employer who willfully violates any
standard, rule, or order promulgated pursuant to section 6 of this Act [29 USCS § 655], or of any regulations
prescribed pursuant to this Act, and that violation caused death to any employee, shall, upon conviction, be punished
by a fine of not more than $ 10,000 or by imprisonment for not more than six months, or by both; except that if the
conviction is for a violation committed after a first conviction of such person, punishment shall be by a fine of not
more than $ 20,000 or by imprisonment for not more than one year, or by both.
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months (plus up to a $10,000 fine) and a subsequent violation of up to maximum of 1 year and a
$20,000 fine.3 The status of OSHA criminal violations as a Class B misdemeanor is little
incentive for DOJ to prosecute OSHA violations.4

Criminal penalties, first proposed by Senator Kennedy in 20085, are now likely to
become law under the proposed Protecting America’s Worker’s Act (PAWA).6 The bill would
raise the maximum punishment from 6 months to 10 years in prison and for repeat violators
move the maximum prison sentence raises from 1 year to 20 years.7 This increase represents the
Obama Administration’s new focus for OSHA, turning away from compliance assistance and
towards tougher enforcement.8 Liability is broadened so as to be effective against corporate
employers and small business, which currently bear the most exposure to the criminal provisions,
by reaching any responsible corporate officer or director.9 Responsible corporate offices are
those with responsibility and control, thus low level managers could fall into liability under the
PAWA. Additionally, the PAWA would expand liability to cases of serious injury, not just
instances where the employee dies.10

If proposed changes to the House version of the PAWA—which are backed by OSHA—
become law, the major change in the criminal provisions with the passing of the PAWA will be
the dumbing down of the mens rea requirement from “willful” to “knowingly.”11 While willful
violations would still garner higher civil penalties, a knowing violation could lead to criminal
charges.12

Knowingly is much lower burden of proof, which only requires that the actor

knowingly perform an act or fail to perform an act that causes them to violate an OSHA
provision, but not that they know they are in violation of a specific OSHA provision.13 The
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PAWA would remove the requirement that the government prove the employer intentionally
disregarded or was plainly indifferent to OSHA requirements.14 Under the PAWA employers
would no have the defense to willfulness that they were acting under a good faith reasonable
belief that its conduct conformed to law.15 The PAWA would put criminal liability for OSHA
violations on par with federal environmental crimes, exacting stiff criminal penalties for
violations, with a minimal burden of proving the mental state of the actor, which can be directed
anywhere in a corporate structure top to bottom.16

The PAWA changes to the criminal statutes will likely cause an increase in prosecutions
for OSHA violations. In the years between 2003 through 2008 OSHA conducted almost 10,000
inspections.17

In those inspections they found 237 willful violations of OSHA rules or

regulations.18 OSHA referred 50 cases to the DOJ for criminal prosecution.19 Ten cases were
eventually prosecuted by the DOJ.20 OSHA has maintained that criminal prosecution is but one
tool of enforcement and that many cases simply do not merit criminal prosecution.21 The
Department of Labor screens willful violations that would meet only the civil preponderance of
the evidence burden of proof standard and refers to DOJ only those cases in which it believes the
government could prove willfulness to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt.22

In Senator Kennedy’s report he proposed that to create a criminal deterrence mechanism
there must be felony charges available for an employer’s repeated and willful violations of
OSHA rules or regulations that result in a worker’s death or serious injury.23 DOJ officials have
stated that the real problem with the law is who the criminal liability is directed at and not
necessarily the status of the offense or maximum sentence.24 Employers are liable if they act or
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fail to act willfully, but the larger the entity the more likely that the employer’s act will not be
seen as willful because of a lack of knowledge about the violation.25 The result is the
prosecution of small companies where the ‘employer’ is active in the day-to-day operations on
the ground and often working onsite, with larger corporations receiving a pass on criminal
liability.26 The ‘responsible corporate officer’ addition in the PAWA would broaden liability to
allow supervisors and other willful violators in management to face criminal charges, thus
exposing larger corporations to greater exposure to OSHA criminal liability.27

In addition to changes to OSHA criminal enforcement, civil enforcement of OSHA
violations is also being toughened. Recently the Obama administration has revamped OSHA’s
Enhanced Enforcement Program (EEP), replacing it with the new Severe Violator Enforcement
Program (SVEP), which will focus on recalcitrant employers who endanger workers by
demonstrating indifference to OSHA rules and regulations.28 While EEP had serious problems,
its process made OSHA more aware of criminal violations and more awareness led to more
referrals. 29 OSHA referrals to DOJ increased from 6 per year (1993-2003) to 12 cases being
referred in 2008.30 OSHA under the Obama administration has committed itself to ensuring that
the proper cases are being referred to the DOJ for prosecution, as well as seeing how OSHA and
DOJ can work better together to prosecute the cases that are referred.31

In October of 2009 British Petroleum (BP) settled with OSHA for the largest civil penalty
ever given for failing to correct safety issues related to their Texas City, Texas refinery, where an
explosion killed 15 employees in 2005.32 OSHA fined BP $56.7 million for 271 instances of
failing to correct a hazard, and $30.7 million for 439 “willful and egregious” violations.33 These
fines came after BP had spent more than $1 billion to upgrade the refinery in the wake of the
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deadly blast, yet OSHA found BP failed to comply with the settlement agreement and fix safety
violations.34 BP had previously paid fines to OSHA in excess of $20 million relating to the
explosion, paid $50 million in criminal fines under the Clean Air Act, and had set aside $2.1
billion to settle the more than 4,000 civil claims levied against BP after the explosion.35 No
criminal charges under OSHA were brought.

Another high profile disaster occurred when an Imperial Sugar plant in Port Wentworth,
Georgia exploded killing 14 workers in February of 2008.36 OSHA has yet to fully resolve the
issue, though it is seeking $5.1 million for safety violations at Port Wentworth and another $3.1
million for violations at another Imperial Sugar refinery in Gramercy, Louisiana.37 To date, a
final settlement has not been reached because Imperial is resisting admissions of willfulness that
would be helpful to a criminal prosecution for OSHA violations, something OSHA says it has
not ruled out.38 OSHA has alleged 69 willful violations occurred at the Port Wentworth, Georgia
refinery and another 49 willful violations occurred at the Gramercy, Louisiana refinery.39 A
criminal prosecution is possible in the Imperial case because the U.S. Chemical Safety Board
concluded that company officials knew about the dangerous conditions for years and never
attempted to correct them.40

The Board blamed the explosion on faulty maintenance,

housekeeping and equipment design.41

Employee deaths from high profile incidents may cause Congress to enhance the OSHA
criminal statutes. The Massey Mine in West Virginia, where 29 miners lost their lives in a
collapse on April 5th, 2010, has already been issued 23 citations for significant and substantial
violations by the Department of Labor.42 These violations are based solely on the surface
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investigation.43

The Upper Big Branch Massey Energy Co. mine received more than 500

citations in 2009, which Massey claims were all resolved prior to the collapse.44

Whether through OSHA’s new focus on enforcement over cooperative compliance or
through the dramatic changes the PAWA would make to the criminal statutes, employers will
face a tougher OSHA than they have seen in the past.
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